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OF NASHVILLE AND DAVIDSON 
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APPROVED AS TO PROGRAM SCOPE: 

ter Westerholm, Chair 
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APPROVED AS TO AVAILABILITY OF 
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Title: President & CEO 
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a Notary Public, this_day 
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Notary Public 
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Use of Funding Cost
Construction Costs (254,838 x 5 units) 1,274,190$         
Contingency (10% of construction) 127,419$             
Title Clearance ($3,500 x 5 units) 17,500$                
Developer Fee (8% of construction) 102,000$             

1,521,109$         

Barnes Housing Trust Fund--ARPA Round 12 Application
THF Budget
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Board of Directors 
The Housing Fund, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Nashville, Tennessee 

OPINION 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Housing Fund, Inc. and 
Subsidiaries (collectively, the “Agency”) which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as 
of September 30, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses, 
and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Agency as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, and the changes in its 
net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

BASIS FOR OPINION 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audits of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Agency and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

RESPONSIBILITY OF MANAGEMENT FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Agency’s ability to 
continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are available 
to be issued. 
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgement made by a 
reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether

due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of consolidated
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are any conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Agency’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audits. 

OTHER INFORMATION 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole.  The consolidating statements of financial position and activities on pages 30-33 are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements.  Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements.  The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation 
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 
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OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 30, 2023, on our 
consideration of the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that 
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

Nashville, Tennessee 
June 30, 2023 
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2022 2021

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 15,007,514$     8,654,329$       

Cash and cash equivalents, designated for federal programs 2,631,164         2,310,913         

Accounts receivable 84,291              60,793              

Government grants receivable 112,597            22,158              

Accrued interest on loans receivable 108,379            169,079            

Loans receivable:

   Down payment assistance loans, net 8,001,487         7,669,523         

   Flood assistance loans, net 807,138            925,011            

   Development loans, net 6,543,346         10,529,302       

   Shared equity loans, net 2,313,666         1,619,839         

Prepaid expenses and other assets 397,285            148,740            

Tax, insurance and mortgage escrow reserves 353,274            378,397            

Property, furniture and equipment, net 4,527,679         3,472,254         

Land and improvements for the Community Land Trust Program 492,614            636,551            

TOTAL ASSETS 41,380,434$     36,596,889$     

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 490,789$          360,596$          

Accrued expenses 322,111            296,395            

Grants payable 1,237,291         654,766            

Mortgage loans payable - Laurel House Apartments, net 1,654,370         2,242,694         

Deferred revenue 2,057,396         1,945,723         

Notes payable - investment partners 21,235,313       17,368,548       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 26,997,270       22,868,722       

NET ASSETS

Without donor restrictions 13,160,350       12,535,862       

With donor restrictions 1,222,814         1,192,305         

TOTAL NET ASSETS 14,383,164       13,728,167       

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 41,380,434$     36,596,889$     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

SEPTEMBER 30, 2022 AND 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

THE HOUSING FUND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

-4-
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2022 2021

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS

REVENUES AND GAINS:

Public support:

Federal, state and local government grants 2,004,029$          380,304$             

Grants from private institutions 705,664               575,716               

Revenues:

Service and administrative fees 309,293               336,348               

Rental income - Laurel House Apartments 474,717               436,302               

Interest income:

Loans 896,511               698,943               

Other 25,091                 4,500                   

Other 109,945               96,474                 

TOTAL REVENUES AND GAINS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 4,525,250            2,528,587            

Net assets released from restrictions:

Expiration of time and purpose restrictions 1,469,491            1,231,101            

TOTAL NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM RESTRICTIONS 1,469,491            1,231,101            

TOTAL REVENUES, GAINS, AND OTHER SUPPORT 

WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 5,994,741            3,759,688            

EXPENSES

Program services:

Lending 2,060,144            1,114,553            

Community impact 2,004,360            1,360,741            

Laurel House Apartments 559,974               608,097               

Supporting services:

Management and general 745,775               527,411               

TOTAL EXPENSES 5,370,253            3,610,802            

INCREASE IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTICTIONS 624,488               148,886               

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS

Donor restricted contributions 1,500,000            2,250,000            

Net assets released from restrictions (1,469,491)           (1,231,101)           

INCREASE IN NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 30,509                 1,018,899            

INCREASE IN NET ASSETS 654,997               1,167,785            

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF YEAR 13,728,167          12,560,382          

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 14,383,164$        13,728,167$        

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE HOUSING FUND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022 AND 2021
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Supporting Supporting

Services Services

Laurel Management Laurel Management

Community House and Community House and

Lending Impact Apartments General Total Lending Impact Apartments General Total

Payroll and related costs 796,590$     279,149$     40,019$     512,190$   1,627,948$ 526,023$     242,822$     46,517$       404,076$     1,219,438$  

Provision (recovery) for 

   uncollectible loans (120,231)     -                  -                 -                 (120,231)     150,367       -                  -                  -                  150,367       

Advertising 5,566           19,713         120            29,935       55,334        5,536           12,532         82                62,986         81,136         

Community impact grants 927,508       1,598,714    -                 -                 2,526,222   -                  997,494       -                  -                  997,494       

Depreciation and amortization 28,761         10,763         151,651     9,882         201,057      22,913         13,927         146,438       12,580         195,858       

Interest 259,734       -                  18,316       5,055         283,105      270,628       -                  14,551         -                  285,179       

Occupancy 45,326         19,421         -                 4,025         68,772        39,612         15,099         -                  6,400           61,111         

Professional fees 6,208           2,936           40,151       108,673     157,968      12,951         12,033         39,809         27,242         92,035         

Servicing fees 33,449         -                  -                 605            34,054        16,242         905              -                  -                  17,147         

Repairs and maintenance -                  -                  105,155     -                 105,155      -                  -                  145,590       -                  145,590       

Property taxes -                  -                  157,224     -                 157,224      -                  -                  174,402       -                  174,402       

Office expense and miscellaneous 77,233         73,664         47,338       75,410       273,645      70,281         65,929         40,708         14,127         191,045       

2,060,144$  2,004,360$  559,974$   745,775$   5,370,253$ 1,114,553$  1,360,741$  608,097$     527,411$     3,610,802$  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2022

Program Services

THE HOUSING FUND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

2021

FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022 AND 2021

Program  Services
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2022 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in net assets 654,997$         1,167,785$    

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash

     provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 181,084           181,191         

Amortization of loan costs 19,973             14,667           

Loss on sale of Community Land Trust properties 105,376           -                     

Accrued interest added to notes payable - investment partners 42,087             22,638           

Provision for uncollectible loans (120,231)          150,367         

Non-cash contribution: forgiveness of accrued interest and note payable - investment partners (489,914)          (417,025)        

(Increase) decrease in:

   Accounts receivable (23,498)            63,109           

   Accrued interest on loans receivable 60,700             (14,922)          

   Prepaid expenses and other assets (248,545)          (19,112)          

   Tax, insurance and mortgage escrow reserves 25,123             (88,715)          

(Decrease) increase in:

   Accounts payable 130,193           37,088           

   Accrued expenses 25,716              (38,129)          

Grants payable 582,525           654,766         

   Deferred revenue 111,673           1,805,266      

Net adjustments 311,823           2,351,189      

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 966,820           3,518,974      

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property, furniture and equipment (1,236,509)       (195,989)        

Acquisition and construction paid for Community Land Trust properties (381,439)          -                     

Proceeds from sales of Community Land Trust properties 420,000           -                     

Down payment assistance loans made (1,532,367)       (1,735,414)     

Principal repayments on down payment assistance loans 1,200,664        1,253,531      

Principal repayments on flood assistance loans 172,095           209,302         

Development loans made (4,819,726)       (6,241,342)     

Principal repayments on development loans 8,907,682        3,961,962      

Shared equity loans made (775,787)          (115,057)        

Principal repayments on shared equity loans 45,708             46,207           

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 2,000,321        (2,816,800)     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Principal payments on mortgage loans payable - Laurel House Apartments (608,297)          (65,214)          

Proceeds from notes payable - investment partners 8,126,000        1,195,267      

Principal payments on notes payable - investment partners (3,811,408)       (3,000)            

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,706,295        1,127,053      

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6,673,436        1,829,227      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF YEAR 10,965,242      9,136,015      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR 17,638,678$    10,965,242$  

ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Interest paid 275,000$         307,212$       

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022 AND 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

THE HOUSING FUND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

-7-
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THE HOUSING FUND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 -8- 

 
NOTE 1 - GENERAL 

 
The Housing Fund, Inc. (“THF”) was organized in 1996 as a Tennessee not-for-profit corporation.  Its 
stated mission is to “provide resources and creative leadership to help individuals and communities 
create and maintain affordable and healthy places in which low to moderate income people live.”  THF 
is designated as a Community Development Financial Institution (“CDFI”) by the U.S. Department of 
Treasury.   
 
Laurel House Apartments GP, Inc. (“Laurel House GP”) was organized in 2002 as a for-profit 
corporation and is a wholly owned subsidiary of THF.  Laurel House GP owns 1/10 of 1% as general 
partner of Laurel House 2001, L.P., a limited partnership that was also organized in 2002.  Laurel House 
2001, L.P. acquired certain real estate for the construction and operation of Laurel House Apartments 
(the “Laurel House project”), a 48-apartment unit development, with parking availability, 10,000 square 
feet of retail space, and offices for THF.  The Laurel House project was funded in part through a Tax 
Increment Financing loan (“TIF”), provided by THF, in the amount of $700,000.  Additional funding 
for the Laurel House project came from proceeds of the sale of federal low-income housing tax credits. 
Effective December 31, 2018, the limited partners of Laurel House 2001, L.P. transferred their 99.99% 
ownership interest directly to The Housing Fund, Inc, as a condition of the original partnership 
agreement. Effective December 31, 2018, The Housing Fund is 100% owner of Laurel House 2001, 
L.P. through its 1/10 of 1% ownership held by Laurel House GP and 99.99% ownership held directly. 
 

 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
Principles of consolidation 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 
2021, include the accounts of The Housing Fund, Inc. and its subsidiaries: Laurel House Apartments 
GP, Inc. and Laurel House 2001, L.P. (collectively the “Agency”).  All significant intercompany 
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Basis of presentation 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements present the financial position and change in net 
assets of the Agency on the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
Resources are classified as net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor restrictions, 
based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions as follows: 
 

Net assets without donor restrictions: Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of the 
organization. These net assets may be used at the discretion of the Agency’s management and 
the Board of Directors.  
 
Net assets with donor restrictions: Net assets subject to stipulations imposed by donors, and 
grantors. Some donor restrictions are temporary in nature; those restrictions will be met by 
actions of the Agency or by the passage of time. Other donor restrictions are perpetual in nature, 
whereby the donor has stipulated the funds be maintained in perpetuity. The Agency did not 
have any net assets with donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature as of September 30, 2022 
or 2021. 

 
Donor/grantor restricted contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions.  
When a restriction expires, net assets are reclassified from net assets with donor restrictions to net assets 
without donor restrictions in the Consolidated Statements of Activities. 
 
Contributions and support 
 
Contributions are recognized when cash, securities or other assets, or an unconditional promise to 
give is received. A contribution is conditional if an agreement includes a barrier that must be 
overcome and either a right of return of assets transferred or a right of release of a promisor’s 
obligation to transfer assets exists. The presence of both a barrier and a right of return or right of 
release indicates that a recipient is not entitled to the contribution until it has overcome the barrier(s) 
in the agreement. Conditional promises to give are not recognized until the barrier(s) in the agreement 
are overcome. 
 
The Agency also receives grant revenue from federal, state and local agencies. Grant revenue is 
recognized in the period a liability is incurred for eligible expenditures under the terms of the grant. 
Grant funds received prior to expenditure are recorded initially as deferred revenue. Deferred revenue 
for grant funds received but not expended amounted to $2,057,396 at September 30, 2022 
($1,945,723 at September 30, 2021). 
 
The Agency reports any gifts of equipment or materials as unrestricted support unless explicit donor 
restrictions specify how the assets must be used.  Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit restrictions as 
to how the assets are to be used or funds restricted for the acquisition of long-lived assets are reported 
as restricted support.  Expirations of donor restrictions are recognized when the donated or acquired 
long-lived assets are placed in service. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Rental income 
 
Rental income from residential apartments is recognized as rent becomes due. Rental payments received 
in advanced are deferred until earned.  
 
Rental income from retail leases is recognized on the straight-line basis over the life of the leases. The 
excess of rental income recognized over the amount received is included in accounts receivable. 
 
Federal loan awards 
 
Federal awards received by the Agency that include an obligation to repay loaned amounts back to the 
awarding agency are included in notes payable until such amounts are repaid by the Agency.  Federal 
loan awards are considered expended when the loan disbursements are made to eligible recipients. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents and designated cash 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and money market funds with banks. Cash 
equivalents also include bank certificates of deposit that can be liquidated without significant penalty 
or restriction (including accrued interest). 
 
Cash and cash equivalents designated for federal programs consists of discretely managed accounts 
maintained to comply with contractual requirements imposed by grantors and may be used only for 
the purpose of funding loans. 
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported 
within the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position that sum to the total in the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows as of September 30: 

2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents 15,007,514$    8,654,329$     
Cash and cash equivalents, designated for federal programs 2,631,164       2,310,913       

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 17,638,678$    10,965,242$    

 
Accounts receivable and government grants receivable 
 
Accounts receivable and government grants receivable are deemed to be fully collectible by 
management.  No allowance for bad debts is considered necessary. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Allowance for uncollectible loans 
 
The allowance for uncollectible loans is a valuation allowance for probable incurred credit losses.  Loan 
losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectability of a loan 
balance is confirmed. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance.  Management 
estimates the allowance balance required using historical loan loss experience, the nature and volume 
of the portfolio, information about specific borrower situations, estimated collateral values, and current 
economic conditions.  The allowance consists of specific and general components.  The specific 
component relates to loans that are individually classified as impaired.  The general component is based 
on historical loss experience adjusted for current factors.  The entire allowance is available for any loan 
that, in management’s judgment, should be charged off. 
 
A loan receivable is considered impaired when, based on current information, it is probable that all 
amounts of principal and interest due will not be collected according to the terms of the loan agreement.  
The allowance for uncollectible loans is established by charges to program services expense and is 
maintained at an amount which management believes adequate to absorb losses on existing loans.  
Uncollectible loans are charged to the allowance account in the period such determination is made.  
Recoveries of the allowance for uncollectible loans due to repayment of loans is recorded as income in 
the period of recovery. 
 
Property, furniture and equipment 
 
Property, furniture and equipment are reported at cost at the date of purchase, or at estimated fair value 
at the date of gift to the Agency.  The Agency’s policy is to capitalize purchases with a cost of $200 or 
more and an estimated useful life greater than one year.  Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 20 years or the life of the lease, if shorter, 
for leasehold improvements, 10-40 years for building and building improvements, 3 years for computer 
equipment and 5-7 years for furniture and fixtures. 
 
Debt issuance costs 
 
Debt issuance costs are presented on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as a direct 
reduction from the carrying amount of the related mortgage loans payable - Laurel House Apartments.  
Amounts are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the related mortgage and included in 
amortization expense on the Consolidated Statements of Functional Expenses.  Amortization of loan 
costs will be $12,612 per year for the years ending 2023 through 2024 and $7,356 for the year ending 
2025. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Income taxes 
 
THF qualifies as a not-for-profit organization exempt from federal income taxes under Section 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.   
 
THF files a U.S. Federal Form 990 for organizations exempt from income tax and U.S. Federal Form 
990-T for organizations exempt from income tax with unrelated business.  Laurel House GP is a for-
profit corporation and files a Federal Form 1120 and a Tennessee Franchise and Excise tax return. 
Laurel House 2001, L.P. is a partnership and files a Federal Form 1065.  Laurel House 2001, L.P. files 
a certificate of exemption from Tennessee Franchise and Excise tax. 
 
Management performs an evaluation of all income tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the 
course of preparing THF’s, Laurel House GP’s and Laurel House 2001, L.P.’s income tax returns to 
determine whether the income tax positions meet a “more likely than not” standard of being sustained 
under examination by the applicable taxing authorities.  Management has performed its evaluation of 
all income tax positions taken on all open income tax returns and has determined that there were no 
positions taken that do not meet the “more likely than not” standard. Accordingly, there are no 
provisions for income taxes, penalties or interest receivable or payable relating to uncertain income tax 
positions in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
 
Program and supporting services 
 
The following programs and supporting services are included in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements: 
 

Lending - includes a down payment assistance-lending program, a community development loan 
program and a shared equity homeownership program designed to assist low to moderate income 
individuals in acquiring or maintaining their primary residence and to assist not-for-profit and 
for-profit developers in increasing the supply of decent and affordable housing for low and 
moderate income individuals throughout Tennessee. The community rehabilitation efforts were 
designed to help preserve home ownership by assisting with repairs for homes that had become 
unsafe to inhabit. The community recovery initiative was designed as a response to the Nashville, 
TN, tornado damage and COVID-19 relief efforts. 
 
Community impact - includes the Community Land Trust and Housing Resiliency Fund. Through 
the Community Land Trust program, the Agency is developing residential properties that will 
be sold to qualifying homeowners. The qualifying homeowner enters a land lease agreement 
with the Agency to reduce the initial housing prices. In 2021, THF launched the Housing 
Resiliency Fund. This program provides payments of property taxes on behalf of qualified 
residents living in certain zip codes. These payments are made directly to mortgage companies or 
to the local Trustee’s office in Nashville (if property taxes are not escrowed) to help offset 
increased property taxes. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Program and supporting services (continued) 
 

Laurel House Apartments - is a 48-unit apartment rental development, with low-income 
requirements for residents, located in Nashville, Tennessee, with parking availability and 
approximately 12,000 square feet of retail space.  
 
Management and general - includes the functions necessary to ensure an adequate working 
environment and costs not identifiable with a single program or fund-raising activity, including 
costs associated with providing coordination and articulation of the Agency’s program strategy, 
business management, general recordkeeping, budgeting and related purposes. 

 
Allocation of functional expenses 
 
Expenses that can be directly attributed to a particular function are charged to that function.  Certain 
costs have been allocated amount more than one program or activity based on objectively evaluated 
financial and nonfinancial data or reasonable subjective methods determined by management.  
 
The expenses that are allocated include payroll and related costs, advertising, depreciation and 
amortization, occupancy, professional fees, office expense and miscellaneous and are allocated on the 
basis of estimated time and effort expended on those activities or programs. 
 
Use of estimates in the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
 
Reclassifications 
 
Certain amounts in the prior year’s consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform to the current year’s presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on the results of 
activities or net assets as previously reported. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Recent authoritative accounting guidance  
 
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards 
Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the leasing 
guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets 
and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position for all leases with terms longer than 12 
months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the 
pattern of expense recognition in the statements of activities. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 
2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases, which makes narrow scope improvements 
to the standard for specific issues. In July 2018, the FASB also issued ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 
842): Targeted Improvements, which provides an optional transition method allowing the standard to 
be applied at the adoption date. In March 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-01, Leases (Topic 842) 
Codification Improvements, which exempts entities from having to provide the interim disclosures 
required by Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 250-10-50-3 in the fiscal year in which an 
organization adopts the new leases standard.  
 
A modified retrospective transition approach is required. An entity may adopt the guidance either (1) 
retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented in the financial statements with a cumulative 
effect adjustment recognized at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented or (2) 
retrospectively at the beginning of the period of adoption through a cumulative-effect adjustment. 
The Agency expects to adopt the guidance retrospectively at the beginning of the period of adoption, 
October 1, 2022, through a cumulative-effect adjustment, and will not apply the new standard to 
comparative periods presented. 
 
The new standard provides a number of practical expedients. Upon adoption, the Agency expects to 
elect all the practical expedients available.  
 
The Agency is currently evaluating the impact of the pending adoption of the new standard on its 
consolidated financial statements.  
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Recent authoritative accounting guidance (continued) 
 
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): 
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which creates a new credit impairment 
standard for financial instruments. The existing incurred loss model will be replaced with a current 
expected credit loss (CECL) model for both originated and acquired financial instruments carried at 
amortized cost and off-balance sheet credit exposures, including loans, loan commitments, held-to-
maturity debt securities, financial guarantees, net investment in leases and most receivables. 
Recognized amortization cost financial assets will be presented at the net amount expected to be 
collected through an allowance for credit losses. Expected credit losses on off-balance-sheet credit 
exposures will be recognized through a liability. Unlike current guidance, which requires certain 
favorable changes in expected cash flows to be accreted into interest income, both favorable and 
unfavorable changes in expected credit losses (and, therefore, the allowance) will be recognized 
through credit loss expense as they occur. With the exception of purchased financial assets with a 
more than insignificant amount of credit deterioration since origination, for which the initial 
allowance will be added to the purchase price of the assets, the initial allowance on financial assets 
subject to the scope (whether originated or acquired) will be recognized through credit loss expense. 
Expanded disclosures will also be required. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2022. The Agency is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of the new standard 
on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
In April 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-04, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial 
Instruments - Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial 
Instruments. This ASU was issued to clarify and improve areas of guidance related to recently issued 
financial instrument standards on credit losses, hedging, recognition and measurement. The 
amendments related to ASC 326 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 
31, 2022, and the amendments related to ASC 815 are effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2022, for the Agency. The Agency is currently evaluating the effect 
this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
In May 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-05, Credit Losses (Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief. 
This ASU provides entities that have certain instruments within the scope of Subtopic 326-20, 
Financial Instruments - Credit Losses - Measured at Amortized Cost, with an option to irrevocably 
elect the fair value option in Subtopic 825-10, Financial Instruments - Overall, applied on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis for eligible instruments, upon adoption of Topic 326. For entities that 
have not yet adopted ASU 2016-13, the ASU is effective when they implement the credit losses 
standard. The Agency is currently evaluating the effect that this guidance will have on its consolidated 
financial statements.  
 
In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-11, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, 
Financial Instruments-Credit Losses. This ASU provides narrow-scope improvements to Topic 326. 
For entities that have not yet adopted ASU 2016-13 as of November 26, 2019, the effective date for 
ASU 2016-11 are the same as the effective dates and transition requirements in ASU 2016-13. As 
such, the ASU is effective for annual reporting periods after December 15, 2022 for the Agency. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Events occurring after reporting date 

The Agency has evaluated events and transactions that occurred between September 30, 2022 and June 
30, 2023, the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, for 
possible recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. 

NOTE 3 - LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY 

Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions limiting 
their use, within one year of the consolidated statement of financial position, comprise the following 
as of September 30: 

2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents 15,007,514$    8,654,329$     
Accounts receivable 84,291           60,793   
Government grants receivable 112,597          22,158   
Accrued interest on loans receivable 108,379          169,079  
Current maturities on loans receivable 2,389,560       6,674,118       

Total financial assets 17,702,341     15,580,477     

Less amounts not available to be used within one year:
Board designated for future lending 11,392,000     13,488,000     
Security deposits held 14,600           14,800   

Net assets with donor restrictions 1,222,814       1,192,305       

Financial assets available to meet general expenditures 
over the next twelve months 5,072,927$     885,372$        

The Housing Fund, Inc. plans to utilize unrestricted funds to support the preservation and creation of 
affordable housing and provide down payment assistance to low- and moderate-income communities. 
Lending projections for fiscal year 2023 include approximately $7,400,000 ($9,973,000 was 
projected for 2022) in development loans and $2,427,500 ($2,240,000 was projected for 2022) in 
consumer loans such as down payment assistance loans to qualifying individually and $1,564,500 
($1,275,000 projected in 2022) in shared equity lending.  

In addition to the financial assets above, The Housing Fund, Inc. has one line of credit arrangement 
available with financial institutions to meet lending goals in 2023.  This includes a line of credit for 
$1,500,000 with interest at prime rate minus 4%. 
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NOTE 4 - LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR UNCOLLECTIBLE LOANS 
 
Down payment assistance loans 
 
Down payment assistance loans, secured by a second deed of trust on the applicable properties, are 
made to homebuyers from unrestricted funds.  These loans range from $1,000 to $35,000 and consist 
of the following as of September 30: 

2022 2021

Interest-bearing loans with interest at rates from 2% to 8%,
    for terms of 5 to 30 years 4,863,600$     $4,584,353

Non-interest bearing loans that are payable upon the sale 
    of the property 3,621,194       3,549,621       

8,484,794       8,133,974       

Less: allowance for uncollectible loans (483,307)        (464,451)        

Total 8,001,487$     7,669,523$     

 
Flood assistance loans 
 
Flood assistance loans, secured by the repaired property through a second or third deed of trust, are 
made to homeowners through federal grants.  These loans range from approximately $1,000 to $20,000 
and consist of the following as of September 30: 
 

2022 2021

Interest-bearing loans with interest rate at 4%, requiring 

   monthly payments for terms of 5 to 25 years 42,255$          50,031$          

Non-interest bearing loans that are payable upon the sale 
   of the property 1,014,629       1,198,949       

1,056,884       1,248,980       

Less: allowance for uncollectible loans (249,746)        (323,969)        

Total 807,138$        925,011$        
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NOTE 4 - LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR UNCOLLECTIBLE LOANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Development loans 
 
Development loans consist of the following as of September 30: 
 

2022 2021

6,788,059$     10,878,133$    

Less: allowance for uncollectible loans (244,713)        (348,831)        

Total 6,543,346$     10,529,302$    

Loans to developers for the development of affordable housing 
and other community development projects, ranging from 
approximately $1,000 to $1,300,000 as of September 30, 2022, 
for terms of 0 to 180 months, with interest at rates from 3.50% 
to 9.25%; used to finance construction of single-family homes 
for sale and rental units in low to moderate income 
neighborhoods and other community development projects.  
Principal and interest are payable at the earlier of maturity or the 
date the project is sold.

 
Shared equity loans 
 
Shared equity loans are offered through a homeownership program to provide qualified homebuyers 
with funds up to 25% of the home’s purchase price.  Shared equity loan principal plus a portion of the 
home’s appreciation are repayable upon the sale of home by borrower; however, these loans are 
assumable by future buyers eligible under the shared equity program.  Funds disbursed to borrowers 
are recorded at cost. Borrowers agree to certain restrictions on their use and resale of the property.  
Shared equity loans consist of the following as of September 30:  
 

2022 2021

Non-interest bearing loans that are payable upon the sale 
    of the property 2,432,873$     1,702,794$     

Less: allowance for uncollectible loans (119,207)        (82,955)          

Total 2,313,666$     1,619,839$     
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NOTE 4 - LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR UNCOLLECTIBLE LOANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Allowance for uncollectible loans 
 
Activity in the allowance for uncollectible loans was as follows as of and for the year ended September 
30, 2022: 
 

 Down 

payment 

assistance 

 Flood

assistance  Development 

 Shared 

equity 

Allowance for uncollectible loans:

Beginning balance 464,451$      323,969$     348,831$       82,955$       

Charge-offs (4,609)          (24,000)       -                   -                 

Recoveries 23,726         -                 (2,118)           -                 

Provisions for uncollectible loans (261)            (54,223)       (102,000)       36,252         

Ending balance 483,307$      245,746$     244,713$       119,207$      

 Ending balance: collectively evaluated

  for impairment 483,307$      245,746$     244,713$       119,207$      

Ending balance: individually evaluated

  for impairment -$                -$               -$                 -$                

 Down 

payment 

assistance 

 Flood

assistance  Development 

 Shared 

equity 
Loans:

Ending balance 8,484,794$   1,056,884$  6,788,059$    2,432,873$   

Ending balance: collectively evaluated

  for impairment 8,484,794$   1,056,884$  6,788,059$    2,432,873$   

Ending balance: individually evaluated

  for impairment -$                -$               -$                 -$                
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NOTE 4 - LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR UNCOLLECTIBLE LOANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Allowance for uncollectible loans (continued) 
 
Activity in the allowance for uncollectible loans was as follows as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2021: 
 
Allowance for uncollectible loans:

Beginning balance 356,754$     364,563$     236,575$       77,512$       
Charge-offs 780              -                  (263)              -                   
Recoveries 33,951         -                  -                    (33)               
Provisions for uncollectible loans 72,966         (40,594)       112,519         5,476           
Ending balance 464,451$     323,969$     348,831$       82,955$       
Ending balance: collectively evaluated 
  for impairment 464,451$     323,969$     348,831$       82,955$       

Ending balance: individually evaluated
  for impairment -$                 -$                -$                  -$                 

Loans:

Ending balance 8,133,974$  1,248,980$  10,878,133$  1,702,794$  

Ending balance: collectively  evaluated 
  for impairment 8,133,974$  1,248,980$  10,878,133$  1,702,794$  

Ending balance: individually evaluated
  for impairment -$                 -$                -$                  -$                 

 
The Agency’s policies relevant to each loan portfolio’s allowance for uncollectible loans are as follows: 
 
Down payment assistance loans - The Agency reserves ranged from 5% - 6.50% of the total loan 
portfolio during the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021. The allowance for uncollectible loans 
is calculated at the end of each quarter based on outstanding loan balances. 
 
Flood assistance loans - For loans to owner occupied single family homes a reserve of 25% is used 
for the entire portfolio of loans for the provision for loan losses.   
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NOTE 4 - LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR UNCOLLECTIBLE LOANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Allowance for uncollectible loans (continued) 
 
Development loans - The Agency utilizes a risk rating system to monitor the credit quality of the 
Agency’s development loan portfolio.  Loans are assigned level 1-5 or X based on the following risk 
rating descriptions: 
 
 
Rating 

Percent 
Reserved 

 
Description 

1 1% At least 4 of the following: 
 Experienced developer, proven track record in property type 
 Strong financial sponsorship given risks 
 Successful prior business with THF 
 Collateral is a THF first mortgage and located in middle TN 
 Loan made with no exceptions to policy 

2 2% All of the following: 
 Experienced developer, proven track record in property type 
 Adequate financial sponsorship given risk 
 Collateral may be something other than THF first mortgage  
 Loan made with no more than one exception to policy 

3 3%  Developer has limited experience in property type, and/or 
little experience with THF 

 Experienced developer with property type, THF loan in 
subordinate position 

 Adequate financial strength given level of experience 
 Collateral real estate, but may be outside Middle TN 
 Loan may have an exception to policy with compensating 

factors 
4 4%  New developer 

 Developer with limited experience with THF having a 
subordinate lien position 

5 5% Watchlist:  Existing loan relationships that have a level of 
heightened risk to THF, Borrower is responsive and proactive in 
addressing risk(s)  

X Individually 
determined 

Borrower is either not responsive to THF concern or ineffective in 
managing heightened risk.  THF sets reserve based on anticipated 
loss 
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NOTE 4 - LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR UNCOLLECTIBLE LOANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Allowance for uncollectible loans (continued) 
 
Development loans, summarized by risk rating, are as follows: 
 

2022 2021

Rating 1 671,474$        715,053$        
Rating 2 -                    -                    
Rating 3 6,045,838       10,143,332     
Rating 4 -                    -                    
Rating 5 70,747           19,748           
Rating X -                    -                    

6,788,059$     10,878,133$    

 
Shared equity loans - The Agency reserves approximately 5% of the total loan portfolio. The allowance 
for uncollectible loans is calculated at the end of each quarter based on outstanding loan balances. 

 
 
NOTE 5 - PROPERTY, FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT 

 
Property, furniture and equipment consist of the following as of September 30: 
 

2022 2021

Land 825,000$        400,000$        

Building and building improvements 6,483,959       5,686,714       

Computer equipment 151,220          136,956          
Furniture and fixtures 41,671           41,671           

7,501,850       6,265,341       
Less: accumulated depreciation (2,974,171)      (2,793,087)      

Total 4,527,679$     3,472,254$     

 
In 2023, the Agency is completing renovations on the Laurel House project and office space to be 
utilized by the Agency. Total renovation budget for both projects is approximately $1,600,000. 
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NOTE 6 - COMMUNITY LAND TRUST PROGRAM 
 
Through the Community Land Trust program, the Agency is developing residential properties that 
will be sold to qualifying families. The qualifying homeowner enters a land lease agreement with the 
Agency to reduce the initial housing prices. Land and development of the properties are recorded at 
cost. When the property is sold to a qualifying homeowner, the Agency sells the structure only and 
retains a ground lease on the property to ensure continued affordability of the property.  
 
The Community Land Trust consists of the following as of September 30: 
 

2022 2021

Land 485,900$        485,900$        

Improvement costs 6,714             150,651          

Total 492,614$        636,551$        

 
 
NOTE 7 - MORTGAGE LOANS PAYABLE - LAUREL HOUSE APARTMENTS 

 
Mortgage loans payable - Laurel House Apartments consists of the following as of September 30: 
 

2022 2021

Mortgage payable to a financial institution, payable in monthly
principal payments of $3,761, plus interest at a variable rate
(2.25% at September 30, 2022) through March 2025 with a
final balloon payment of $1,574,120 due April 2025; secured
by substantially all the Laurel House 2001, L.P. assets which
had a net book value of approximately $3,200,000 at
September 30, 2022. 1,686,950$     1,732,082$     

Mortgage payable to a financial institution payable in monthly
principal payments of $2,886 including interest at the rate of
2.5% per annum through March 2025 with a final balloon
payment of $488,070 due April 2025; secured by substantially
all the Laurel House 2001, L.P. The Agency paid off the loan
in March 2022. -                      563,165          

1,686,950       2,295,247       
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (32,580)           (52,553)           

Mortgage loans payable-Laurel House Apartments, 
   net of unamortized debt issuance costs 1,654,370$     2,242,694$     
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NOTE 7 - MORTGAGE LOANS PAYABLE - LAUREL HOUSE APARTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Annual principal maturities of the mortgage loans payable - Laurel House Apartments as of 
September 30, 2022 follows: 
 
Year ending September 30:

2023 45,132$          

2024 45,132           

2025 1,596,686       

1,686,950$     

 
The mortgage agreements require the maintenance of certain financial and non-financial covenants.  
The Agency was in compliance with all covenants as of September 30, 2022. 
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NOTE 8 - NOTES PAYABLE - INVESTMENT PARTNERS 
 
A summary of notes payable to financial institutions and other lenders as of September 30, 2022 and 2021 follows: 
 

Principal Amount Principal
Original Balance Accrued Total Available Balance Accrued Total

Institutional Lenders Issues Drawn Interest Balance To Be Drawn Drawn Interest Balance

U.S. Bank 2 2,000,000$  2,000,000$     -$            2,000,000$       -$                   2,000,000$    -$            2,000,000$      
Citizens Bank 100,000      600,000         -              600,000           -                    300,000        -              300,000          
Regions Bank of Tennessee 3,700,000   3,200,000       -              3,200,000         500,000          3,700,000      -              3,700,000        
SunTrust Bank 3,500,000   3,500,000       290,677    3,790,677         -                    3,500,000      243,148    3,743,148        
Pinnacle Bank 4,805,000   4,805,000       -              4,805,000         -                    1,250,000      -              1,250,000        
Synovus 350,000      350,000         -              350,000           -                    350,000        -              350,000          
F & M Bank 1 300,000      300,000         41,636      341,636           -                    300,000        81,452      381,452          
CapStar 1,250,000   1,250,000       -              1,250,000         -                    1,250,000      -              1,250,000        
First Horizon Bank 2,645,267   2,500,000       -              2,500,000         145,267          2,645,267      -              2,645,267        
Truxton Trust 600,000      600,000         -              600,000           -                    600,000        17,980      617,980          
Renasant Bank 100,000      100,000         -              100,000           -                    100,000        37,519      137,519          
Cumberland Bank and Trust 1 100,000      100,000         -              100,000           -                    100,000        -              100,000          
First Financial Bank 1 100,000      100,000         -              100,000           -                    100,000        38,182      138,182          
First Farmers & Merchants Bank 500,000      500,000         -              500,000           -                    500,000        -              500,000          
ServisFirst Bank 100,000      100,000         -              100,000           -                    100,000        -              100,000          
Wilson Bank & Trust 100,000      100,000         -              100,000           -                    100,000        -              100,000          
PNC Bank 500,000      500,000         -              500,000           -                    -                  -              -                 
Self-Directed IRA Services and other 70,000        298,000         -              298,000           -                    55,000          -              55,000            

Total Notes Payable - Investment Partners 20,903,000$   332,313$  21,235,313$     645,267$         16,950,267$  418,281$  17,368,548$    

1 - Funding available for Clarksville/Montgomery County, Tennessee operations.
2 - Includes $250,000 funding available for Clarksville/Montgomery County, Tennessee operations. 

20212022
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NOTE 8 - NOTES PAYABLE - INVESTMENT PARTNERS (CONTINUED) 
 
Loans from various financial institutions generally mature in one to ten years (maturities range from 
November 2021 - June 2030 as of September 30, 2022), accrue interest at rates from 0% to 2.50% 
annually, and are unsecured and subordinated. Certain loans contain automatic extension provisions 
that can renew indefinitely. Some loans permit the accrued interest to be added to the principal balance 
annually; the other loans require the interest to be paid monthly, quarterly or annually.  Accrued 
interest added to principal balances amounted to $42,08The Hous7 in 2022, and $22,638 in 2021. 
 
Annual principal maturities of notes payable - investment partners are as follows: 
 
Year ending September 30:

2023 2,750,000$     
2024 1,988,246       
2025 2,308,431       
2026 3,116,636       

 2027 2,142,000       

Thereafter 8,930,000       

21,235,313$    

 
 
NOTE 9 - NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 

 
Net assets with donor restrictions consist of the following at September 30: 
 

2022 2021

Housing Resiliency Program 1,222,814$     1,192,305$     

1,222,814$     1,192,305$      
 
In November 2020, the Agency received a $2,250,000 grant for the Housing Resiliency Program 
which was recognized as revenue during the September 30, 2021 fiscal year. As part of the program, 
the Agency provides financial support to low- and moderate-income homeowners in specific 
neighborhoods to mitigate increases in property taxes. During the year ended September 30, 2022, 
the Agency utilized $1,192,305 for the program ($1,057,695 in 2021). 
 
In November 2021, the Agency received a $1,350,000 grant for the Housing Resiliency Program 
which was recognized as revenue during the September 30, 2022 fiscal year. As part of the program, 
the Agency provides financial support to low- and moderate-income homeowners in specific 
neighborhoods to mitigate increases in property taxes. During the year ended September 30, 2022, 
the Agency utilized $127,187 for the program with $1,222,814 remaining in net assets with donor 
restrictions.  
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NOTE 10 - LEASES 
 
Laurel House 2001, L.P.’s residential apartments are leased to tenants for one-year terms.  On 
February 18, 2001, the Partnership entered into two 20-year, triple net leases for the 12,000 square 
feet of retail space. The Housing Fund, Inc. rents approximately 4,300 square feet of the retail space, 
rental income and expense between the entities is eliminated in the consolidated financial 
statements. The retail leases provide for scheduled rent increases every five years and include two, 
five-year renewal options.  The lease terms began June 1, 2004.  The excess of rental income 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the amount received is included in accounts receivable and 
amounted to $22,674 at September 30, 2022 ($34,741 at September 30, 2021). 
 
Future minimum rental receipts to be received under the retail leases, excluding the amount from 
The Housing Fund, Inc., are as follows:  
 

Year ending September 30:

2023 47,741$          
2024 31,827           

79,568$           
 

 
NOTE 11 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
The Agency has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and 
audit by the grantor agencies.  Although such audits could result in disallowance of expenditures, 
management believes that any required reimbursements would not be significant.  Accordingly, no 
provision has been made for any potential reimbursements to the grantor. 
 
Laurel House 2001, L.P. is required to utilize the housing complex as low-income housing pursuant 
to Internal Revenue Code Section 42 until 2034. 
 
 

 NOTE 12 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Four of the Agency’s board members are senior officers with financial institutions or other lenders 
with which the Agency has outstanding loans totaling $14,295,677 at September 30, 2022 (five board 
members totaling $11,095,267 at September 30, 2021).   
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NOTE 13 - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Agency to concentrations of credit risk consist of 
cash and cash equivalents and loans receivable.  Loans receivable are widely dispersed throughout 
Middle Tennessee to mitigate credit risk.   
 
The Agency maintains cash balances at financial institutions whose accounts are insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to statutory limits. The Agency’s cash balance, 
from time to time, may exceed statutory limits.  The Agency has not experienced any losses in such 
accounts and considers this to be a normal business risk. 
 
The Agency also maintains cash and cash equivalents in an investment account at a brokerage 
company.  This investment consists of a money market fund.  Generally, the balance is not insured by 
the FDIC or any other governmental agency and is subject to investment risk, including the risk of 
loss of principal.  Investors are provided limited protection by the Securities Investor Protection 
Corporation (“SIPC”), which provides protection to investors in certain circumstances such as fraud 
or failure of the institution.  Coverage is limited to $500,000.  The SIPC does not insure against market 
risk. 
 
Outstanding development loans to three developers comprised 55% of the total of such loans at 
September 30, 2022 (four developers comprised 48% in 2021).  

 
 

NOTE 14 - CONTRACTED SERVICES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 
 
Contracted services 
 
The Housing Fund Inc.’s staff is employed under a Professional Employer Organization (“PEO”) 
agreement with LBMC Employment Partners and reports solely to the Agency’s Board of Directors.  
The Agency reimburses LBMC Employment Partners for the salaries and related fringe benefits, 
which include Social Security and Medicare taxes, insurance and employee benefit plan costs.  
 
Laurel House 2001, L.P. contracts with a management company to manage the property.  Laurel 
House 2001, L.P. reimburses the management company for certain employee salaries.  In addition, 
management fees of 5% of gross revenue collected are paid to the management company.  
 
Employee benefit plans 
 
All staff members of The Housing Fund, Inc. are eligible to participate in the LBMC Employment 
Partners, LLC 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan with a match of 100% of the first 3% of contributions and 
50% of the next 2% of contributions. Total contributions amounted to $25,965 and $23,703 for the 
years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
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NOTE 15 - FLOOD CONTRACT TERMINATION 
 
On May 20, 2010 THF entered into an agreement with MDHA to administer the “We Are Home” 
program.  Under the agreement, THF was allowed up to $2,300,000 in grant funds from MDHA to 
provide flood repair assistances to homeowners impacted by the May 2010 floods in Nashville.  
Termination provisions under the agreement allow for MDHA to terminate the agreement any time, 
at the convenience of MDHA, by a notice in writing from MDHA to THF specifying the effective 
day thereof, at least thirty days before the effective date of such termination.  Program income 
provisions under the agreement allowed for THF to use loan proceeds and repayments for future 
eligible activities.  Therefore, a liability was not recorded at the time of the original agreement.  On 
January 13, 2015, MDHA notified THF that they elected to terminate the contract without cause 
effective April 30, 2015.  At the time of contract termination, there was $1,048,716 in flood 
assistance loans held by THF that would be returned to MDHA.  A flood contract payable was 
recorded on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for the amount to be returned to 
MDHA.  Payable to MDHA at September 30, 2022 and 2021 was $217,520 and is included in 
accrued expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. 
 
 

NOTE 16 - PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM LOAN 
 
On April 19, 2020, THF was the recipient of a $142,025 loan under the Paycheck Protection Program 
(“PPP”). The PPP, established as a part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security 
(“CARES”) Act, provides for loans to small businesses to pay up to 24 weeks of payroll costs and 
benefits, interest on mortgages, rent and utilities. The funds are available in the form of a loan which 
is fully forgivable if at least 60% of the funds are used for payroll costs and other conditions are met. 
Any unforgiven funds will convert to a note with a 1.0% interest rate and payable over 24 months. 
The loan was forgiven on April 28, 2021 and recorded as federal grant income on the Consolidated 
Statements of Activities. 
 
On February 16, 2021, THF received a second draw PPP loan in the amount of $145,267. The loan is 
forgivable under similar provisions as the first PPP loan. The loan was forgiven on November 3, 2021 
and recorded it as federal grant income on the Consolidated Statements of Activities.  
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The Laurel  House Laurel House Consolidating

Housing Fund, Inc.  Apartments GP, Inc. 2001, L.P. Entries Consolidated

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents, undesignated 14,593,991$               -$                                 413,523$                     -$                         15,007,514$       

Cash and cash equivalents, designated for federal programs 2,631,164                   -                                   -                                   -                           2,631,164           

Accounts receivable 118,838                      -                                   26,314                         (60,861)                84,291                

Government grants receivable 112,597                      -                                   -                                   -                           112,597              

Accrued interest on loans receivable 108,379                      -                                   -                                   -                           108,379              

Loans receivable:

Down payment assistance loans receivable, net 8,001,487                   -                                   -                                   -                           8,001,487           

Flood assistance loans receivable, net 807,138                      -                                   -                                   -                           807,138              

Development loans receivable, net 7,085,762                   -                                   -                                   (542,416)              6,543,346           

Shared equity loans receivable, net 2,313,666                   -                                   -                                   -                           2,313,666           

Prepaid expenses and other assets 385,923                      -                                   11,362                         -                           397,285              

Tax, insurance and mortgage escrow reserves -                                  -                                   353,274                       -                           353,274              

Property, furniture and equipment, net 1,309,694                   -                                   3,217,985                    -                           4,527,679           

Land and improvements for the Community Land Trust Program 492,614                      -                                   -                                   -                           492,614              

Investment in subsidiary 1,793,006                   -                                   -                                   (1,793,006)           -                          

Investment in limited partnership -                                  200,000                       -                                   (200,000)              -                          

TOTAL ASSETS 39,754,259$               200,000$                     4,022,458$                  (2,596,283)$         41,380,434$       

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 324,116$                    -$                                 227,534$                     (60,861)$              490,789$            

Accrued expenses 316,979                      -                                   5,132                           -                           322,111              

Grants payable 1,237,291                   -                                   -                                   -                           1,237,291           

Mortgage loans payable - Laurel House Apartments, net -                                  -                                   2,196,786                    (542,416)              1,654,370           

Deferred revenue 2,057,396                   -                                   -                                   -                           2,057,396           

Notes payable - investment partners 21,235,313                 -                                   -                                   -                           21,235,313         

TOTAL LIABILITIES 25,171,095                 -                                   2,429,452                    (603,277)              26,997,270         

NET ASSETS

Without donor restrictions 13,360,350                 200,000                       1,593,006                    (1,993,006)           13,160,350         

With donor restrictions 1,222,814                   -                                   -                                   -                           1,222,814           

TOTAL NET ASSETS 14,583,164                 200,000                       1,593,006                    (1,993,006)           14,383,164         

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 39,754,259$               200,000$                     4,022,458$                  (2,596,283)$         41,380,434$       

THE HOUSING FUND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2022
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The Laurel  House Laurel House Consolidating

Housing Fund, Inc.  Apartments GP, Inc. 2001, L.P. Entries Consolidated

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents, undesignated 8,383,998$                 -$                                  270,331$                      -$                         8,654,329$       

Cash and cash equivalents, designated for federal programs 2,310,913                   -                                    -                                    -                           2,310,913         

Accounts receivable 84,320                        -                                    37,324                          (60,851)                60,793              

Government grants receivable 22,158                        -                                    -                                    -                           22,158              

Accrued interest on loans receivable 169,079                      -                                    -                                    -                           169,079            

Loans receivable:

Down payment assistance loans receivable, net 7,669,523                   -                                    -                                    -                           7,669,523         

Flood assistance loans receivable, net 925,011                      -                                    -                                    -                           925,011            

Development loans receivable, net 10,529,302                 -                                    -                                    -                           10,529,302       

Shared equity loans receivable, net 1,619,839                   -                                    -                                    -                           1,619,839         

Prepaid expenses and other assets 145,059                      -                                    3,681                            -                           148,740            

Tax, insurance and mortgage escrow reserves -                              -                                    378,397                        -                           378,397            

Property, furniture and equipment, net 122,591                      -                                    3,349,663                     -                           3,472,254         

Land and improvements for the Community Land Trust Program 636,551                      -                                    -                                    -                           636,551            

Investment in subsidiary 1,766,641                   -                                    -                                    (1,766,641)           -                    

Investment in limited partnership -                                  200,000                        -                                    (200,000)              -                    

TOTAL ASSETS 34,384,985$               200,000$                      4,039,396$                   (2,027,492)$         36,596,889$     

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 196,528$                    -$                                  224,929$                      (60,861)$              360,596$          

Accrued expenses 291,263                      -                                    5,132                            -                           296,395            

Grants Payable 654,766                      -                                    -                                    -                           654,766            

Mortgage loans payable - Laurel House Apartments, net -                                  -                                    2,242,694                     -                           2,242,694         

Deferred revenue 1,945,723                   1,945,723         

Notes payable - investment partners 17,368,548                 -                                    -                                    -                           17,368,548       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 20,456,828                 -                                    2,472,755                     (60,861)                22,868,722       

NET ASSETS

Without donor restrictions 12,735,852                 200,000                        1,566,641                     (1,966,631)           12,535,862       

With donor restrictions 1,192,305                   -                                    -                                    -                           1,192,305         

TOTAL NET ASSETS 13,928,157                 200,000                        1,566,641                     (1,966,631)           13,728,167       

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 34,384,985$               200,000$                      4,039,396$                   (2,027,492)$         36,596,889$     

THE HOUSING FUND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021
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The Laurel  House Laurel House Consolidating
Housing Fund, Inc.  Apartments GP, Inc. 2001, L.P. Entries Consolidated

SUPPORT AND REVENUES

Public support:

Federal, state and local government grants 2,004,029$  -$  -$  -$  2,004,029$         

Grants from private institutions 2,205,664 - - - 2,205,664           

Revenues:

Service and administrative fees 309,293 - - - 309,293 

Rental income - Laurel House Apartments - - 536,304 (61,587) 474,717 

Interest income:

Loans 896,511 - - - 896,511 

Other 25,091 - - - 25,091 

Other 59,910 - 50,035 - 109,945 

Gain on investment in subsidiaries 26,365 - - (26,365) - 

TOTAL SUPPORT AND REVENUES 5,526,863 - 586,339 (87,952) 6,025,250           

EXPENSES

Program services:

Lending 2,100,055 - - (39,911) 2,060,144           

Community impact 2,019,576 - - (15,216) 2,004,360           

Laurel House Apartments - - 559,974 - 559,974 

Supporting services:

Management and general 752,225 - - (6,450) 745,775 

TOTAL EXPENSES 4,871,856 - 559,974 (61,577) 5,370,253           

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 655,007 - 26,365 (26,375) 654,997 

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF YEAR 13,928,157 200,000 1,566,641 (1,966,631) 13,728,167         

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 14,583,164$  200,000$  1,593,006$  (1,993,006)$          14,383,164$       

THE HOUSING FUND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022
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The Laurel  House Laurel House Consolidating
Housing Fund, Inc.  Apartments GP, Inc. 2001, L.P. Entries Consolidated

SUPPORT AND REVENUES

Public support:

Federal, state and local government grants 380,304$   -$  -$  -$  380,304$   

Grants from private institutions 2,825,716 - - - 2,825,716 

Revenues:

Service and administrative fees 336,348 - - - 336,348 

Rental income - Laurel House Apartments - - 497,889 (61,587) 436,302 

Interest income: - 

Loans 698,943 - - - 698,943 

Other 4,500 - - - 4,500 

Other 23,809 - 45,901 26,764 96,474 

Loss on investment in subsidiaries (64,307) - - 64,307 - 

TOTAL SUPPORT AND REVENUES 4,205,313 - 543,790 29,484 4,778,587 

EXPENSES

Program services:

Lending 1,154,474 - - (39,921) 1,114,553 

Community impact 1,375,957 - - (15,216) 1,360,741 

Laurel House Apartments - - 608,097 - 608,097 

Supporting services:

Management and general 533,861 - - (6,450) 527,411 

TOTAL EXPENSES 3,064,292 - 608,097 (61,587) 3,610,802 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 1,141,021 - (64,307) 91,071 1,167,785 

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF YEAR 12,787,136 200,000 1,630,948 (2,057,702) 12,560,382        

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 13,928,157$   200,000$   1,566,641$  (1,966,631)$  13,728,167$   

THE HOUSING FUND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

-33-
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U.S. Department of Housing OMB Approval No. 2577-0157

and Urban Development (exp. 1/31/2022)
Office of Public and Indian Housing 

Project Name and Location Project Number

Jenner Designs
Name, Address, and Zip Code of Developer

Impact Constructions, 311 Mosley Drive, Brentwood, TN 37027 .

Nature of Contract Contract Number:

Single Family Residential Construction
Approved by Developer Representative Title Date (mm/dd/yyyy)

Rick Sandoval Owner
Approved for Architect by Title Date (mm/dd/yyyy)

N/A
Approved for Owner by Title Date (mm/dd/yyyy)

The Housing Fund Project Manager

Item 
No. Description of Item

 Items for 
Contractor 

Items Paid by 
Developer First Draw

(1) (2)  (6) 

1 Plans (Reproduction Copies) 1,480$             -                   

Constructon Documents* (Includes Risk Policy) 850$                -                   

2 Permit 1,000$             -                   

3 Tap Fees 4,800$             -                   

4 Site Preperation 3,250$             -                   

5 Tree Removal* 3,500$             -                   

6 Boundary/Toographic Survey* -                   

7 Footing Survey/Stamped Elevations 500$                

8 Infill Plans* 250$                

9 Temporary Service (Electrical) 550$                -                   

10.5 Stormwater/Grading fees 16,000$           -                   

11 Sidewalk In Lieu Fee* -$                 -                   

12 Utility 800$                -                   

13 Appliances (Refrigerator, Stove, Dishwasher) 3,400$             

14 Cabinets (Bath Vanity) 2,800$             

15 Cabinets Kitchen (Allowance) 7,500$             

16 Countertops (Allowance) Laminate 3,800$             

17 Decorative Hardware (Mirrors, Towel, Bars, etc.) 1,225$             

18 Driveways & Walkways 3,800$             

19 Drywall (Labor) 3,010$             

20 Drywall (Materials) 3,010$             

21 Electrical Lighting & Fixtures (Removing Majority of Recessed Lighting) 1,450$             

22 Electrical Rough-In (Removing Majority of Recessed Lighting) 9,600$             

No progress payments shall be made to the contractor unless a schedule of amounts 
for contract payments in accordance with the construction contract is received.

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, 
searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information.  This 
agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless that collection displays a valid 
OMB control number.

Construction practices and HUD administrative requirements establish the need that HAs maintain certain records or submit certain documents in 
conjunction with the oversight of the award of construction contracts for the construction of new low-income housing developments or 
modernization of existing developments.  These forms are used by HAs to provide information on the construction progress schedule and schedule 
of amounts for contract payments.  Responses to the collection of information are required to obtain a benefit or to retain a benefit.  The information 
required does not lend itself to confidentiality.
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23 Electrical Trimout (underground) 2,720$             

24 Entry Doors (Materials) 1,000$             

25 Exterior Painting 6,000$             

26 Exterior Trim (Labor) Included in Exterior Wall Labor 1,900$             

27 Exterior Trim (Materials) 2,900$             

28 Exterior Wall (Materials) 6,000$             

29 Exterior Walls (Labor) 15,400$           

30 Flooring 5,350$             

31 Footing (Concrete) 3,000$             

32 Footing (Labor) 1,800$             

33.5 Foundation (Materials) 4,000$             

33 Foundation (Labor) 1,000$             

34 Framing (Labor) (Removing Owner Deck & French Door) 7,700$             

35 Framing (Materials) (Removing Owner Deck & French Door) 21,000$           

36 Grading/ Modified French Drains 1,500$             

37 Gutters 1,200$             

38 Hardware 300$                

39 Insulation 5,800$             

40 Interior Doors (Mat& Labor) 3,900$             

41 Interior Painting 6,400$             

42 Interior Trim (Mat & Labor) 3,900$             

43 Landscaping (rain gardens)tree included per code 4,200$             

44 Landscaping* 3,500$             

45 Mechanical Rough-In 4,500$             

46 Mechanical Trimout (Energy-Star Rated) 3,000$             

47 Plumbing (Sewer& Water/Street Cutting) T.B.D. 3,800$             

Cleaners 1,700$             

48 Plumbing Fixtures 2,660$             

49 Plumbing-Rough-In 5,460$             

50 Plumbing Trimout* 3,640$             

51 Roofing (Labor) 700$                

52 Roofing Materials 1,200$             

Sundecks/ Porches (included balusters & steps) 3,900$             

53 Tile (Walls) 1,800$             

54 Tile Floors 2,600$             

55 Trash Removal (Containers) 2,250$             

56 Privacy Fence 6,500$             

57 Windows (Materials) 4,100$             

58 Draw Request -$                 -$                 

59 Contractor's Profit and Overhead

60 Developer Fee 25,000$           -$                 

Total Amount of Contract or Carried Forward 255,855$     -               -$             
5% Retainer -$             
Net after Retainer -$             

0.00% #DIV/0!
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Draw Draw Draw Draw Draw

Balance Variance

-$              1,480$            

-$              1,000$            
-$              4,800$            
-$              3,250$            
-$              3,500$            
-$              -$                
-$              500$               
-$              250$               
-$              550$               

-$              -$                
-$              800$               
-$              3,400$            
-$              2,800$            
-$              7,500$            
-$              3,800$            
-$              1,225$            
-$              3,800$            
-$              3,010$            
-$              3,010$            
-$              1,450$            
-$              9,600$            
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-$              2,720$            
-$              1,000$            
-$              6,000$            
-$              1,900$            
-$              2,900$            
-$              6,000$            
-$              15,400$          
-$              5,350$            
-$              3,000$            
-$              1,800$            

-$              1,000$            
-$              7,700$            
-$              21,000$          
-$              1,500$            
-$              1,200$            
-$              300$               
-$              5,800$            
-$              3,900$            
-$              6,400$            
-$              3,900$            
-$              4,200$            
-$              3,500$            
-$              4,500$            
-$              3,000$            
-$              3,800$            

-$              2,660$            
-$              5,460$            
-$              3,640$            
-$              700$               
-$              1,200$            

-$              1,800$            
-$              2,600$            
-$              2,250$            

-$              4,100$            
-$              -$                
-$              -$                
-$              25,000$          

-$              -$          -$          -$          -$          -$              255,855$        

-$              -$          -$          -$          -$          -$           -$            
-$              -$          -$          -$          -$          -$           255,855$     

#DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0!
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 THE HOUSING FUND, INC 
 
 SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS 
 
  
 

WHEREAS, on November 16, 1999, the board of directors of the Corporation 
approved The First Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation; and 

 
WHEREAS, on April 19, 2005, the board of directors of the Corporation approved 

this Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Corporation adopts the following Second Amended and 
Restated Bylaws (the “bylaws”) which shall supersede the original bylaws and all prior amendments 
thereto, the text of which is amended and restated as follows: 
 
 ARTICLE I. 
 
 OFFICES 
 
 

The Housing Fund, Inc. (the “Corporation”) shall maintain a principal office or 
offices, either within or without the State of Tennessee, as the Board of Directors may designate or 
as the business of the Corporation may require from time to time. 
 
 
 ARTICLE II. 
 
 PURPOSE AND USE OF THE CORPORATION AND ITS FUNDS 
 
 

Section 2.1.  Purpose.  The purposes of the Corporation are as follows:   
 

(a) To acquire funds from governmental entities and agencies, and from non-
governmental entities and individuals, through gifts, grants, loans, or otherwise; 
 

(b) To acquire, lease, or obtain easements over real property, improved or 
unimproved, and personal property, from governmental entities and agencies, and from non-
governmental entities and individuals, through gifts, grants, purchases, exchanges, or otherwise; 
 

(c) To make loans, investments, grants, gifts, or payments of any kind to owners, 
developers, lessors, lessees, occupants, lenders, or others to induce them to or assist them in: (i) 
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providing decent, safe, and sanitary housing to low and moderate income individuals and families; or 
(ii) developing or redeveloping neighborhoods and commercial areas in order to prevent or eliminate 
blighting influences; 
 

(d) To sell, lease, give or grant easements over real or personal property to 
owners, developers, lessors, lessees, occupants, lenders, or others to induce them to or assist them in: 
(i) providing decent, safe, and sanitary housing to low and moderate income individuals and 
families; or, (ii) developing or redeveloping neighborhoods and commercial areas in order to prevent 
or eliminate blighting influences; 
 

(e) To own, operate or manage real property, improved or unimproved, and 
personal property, in order to: (i) provide decent, safe, and sanitary housing to low and moderate 
income individuals and families; or (ii) develop or redevelop neighborhoods and commercial areas in 
order to prevent or eliminate blighting influences; and 
 

(f) To effectuate such charitable purposes within the meaning of Section 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, as the Board of Directors may from 
time to time deem appropriate. 
 

Section 2.2.  Use of Funds.  The Corporation is not formed for financial or pecuniary 
gain; and no part of the assets, income, or profits of the Corporation are distributable to, or inures to 
the benefit of its directors or officers or any other private person, except as provided in Section 4.11 
and Section 5.8 as reimbursement for expenses or reasonable compensation for services rendered to 
the Corporation, and except to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes of the 
Corporation, as set forth in the Charter and Section 2.1 above. 
 

Section 2.3.  Termination of Corporation.  The Board of Directors shall have the 
authority to terminate the Corporation at any time that, by a unanimous vote, it deems such 
termination appropriate or advisable.  In such event, after paying, or making provision for the 
payment of, all liabilities of the Corporation then outstanding and unpaid, the Board of Directors 
shall distribute the assets of the Corporation exclusively for its charitable purposes to one or more 
regularly organized and qualified charitable organization(s) to be selected by the Board of Directors. 
 Any assets not so disposed of by the Board of Directors shall be disposed of by a court having 
equity jurisdiction in the county in which the principal office of the Corporation is then located, with 
the distribution of assets to be made for such charitable purposes, or to such organization or 
organizations which are organized and operated exclusively for such purposes, within the meaning 
of Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, or any corresponding provision of any future federal tax laws, as 
such court shall determine. 
 
 
 ARTICLE III. 
 
 MEMBERS 
 
 

Section 3.1.  Members.  The Corporation shall not have members. 
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 ARTICLE IV. 
 
 BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
 

Section 4.1.  General Powers.  Subject to the provisions of Section 4.3 below, the 
business and affairs of the Corporation shall be supervised by its Board of Directors, which shall 
exercise in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation all of the rights and privileges legally 
exercisable by the Corporation as a corporate entity, except as may otherwise be provided by law, 
the Charter, or these Bylaws.  The Board of Directors, as the governing body of the Corporation, 
shall have the authority to receive, administer and invest property on behalf of the Corporation in 
accordance with the provisions set forth in these Bylaws, establish, operate and manage such 
facilities, programs and services as the Board of Directors deem appropriate, consistent with the 
purposes of the Corporation. 
 

Section 4.2. Nominating Committee.  There shall be a Nominating Committee 
comprised of all officers of NHF, all committee chairs of NHF, and three (3) current members of the 
Board of Directors. 
 

Section 4.3. Number and Election of Directors.  The number of members of the 
Board of Directors shall be fixed by the Board of Directors, but in no event shall the number of 
members of the Board of Directors be less than three (3) or greater than twenty-three (23).  The 
members of the Board of Directors shall be elected as follows:  Each year, prior to the annual 
meeting of the Board of Directors, the Nominating Committee (as defined in Section 4.2) shall 
submit to the Board of Directors a slate of candidates (the “Slate”).  The Slate shall consist of that 
number of candidates equal to the number of directors whose terms are due to expire during the 
course of the year.  The Board of Directors shall then vote on the Slate at its annual meeting (or, if 
no annual meeting is held, at the next duly called special meeting of the Board of Directors).  A vote 
of the majority of the members of the Board of Directors shall be necessary to adopt the Slate.  The 
Slate shall be adopted in its entirety.  In the event the Slate is not adopted in its entirety, the 
Nominating Committee shall resubmit a Slate(s) until one such Slate is adopted and confirmed in its 
entirety.  In selecting a Slate, the Nominating Committee must ensure that the Board of Directors 
will always contain two (2) members who live in an Investment Area served by the Corporation or 
who are members of a Targeted Population served by the Corporation. “Investment Area” and 
“Targeted Population” shall have the meanings given to those terms in Part 1805 of Title 12 of the 
Code of Federal Regulations. 
 

Section 4.4.  Limitation on Personal Liability of Directors.  No person who is or was 
a director of the Corporation, nor such person’s heirs, executors or administrators (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as a “director”), shall be personally liable to the Corporation for monetary 
damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director.  However, this provision shall not eliminate or 
limit the liability of a director (a) for any breach of a director’s duty of loyalty to the Corporation, (b) 
for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing 
violation of law, or (c) for the authorization of unlawful distributions pursuant to Section 48-58-304 
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of the Act.  No repeal or modification of the provisions of this Section 4.4, either directly or by the 
adoption of a provision inconsistent with the provisions of this Section, shall adversely affect any 
right or protection, as set forth herein, existing in favor of a particular individual at the time of such 
repeal or modification. 
 

Section 4.5.  Annual Meeting.  The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be 
held within or without the State of Tennessee at time and date following the close of the 
Corporation’s fiscal year as shall be determined by the President of the Corporation.  The purpose of 
the annual meeting shall be to elect directors and officers of the Corporation, and transact such other 
business as may properly be brought before the meeting. 
 

Section 4.6.  Special Meetings.  Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be 
called by the President of the Corporation, or at the request of any director with the agreement of at 
least one-half (2) of the Board of Directors.  The President shall fix the place, either within or 
without the State of Tennessee, as the place for holding any special meeting. 
 

Section 4.7.  Notices.  Notice of each annual meeting shall be given at least two (2) 
weeks prior thereto, and notice of any special meeting shall be given at least five (5) business days 
prior thereto.  The attendance of a director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such 
meeting, except where a director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the 
transaction of any business because the meeting was not lawfully called or convened.  The business 
to be transacted at, or the purpose of, any special meeting of the Board of Directors must be 
specified in the notice of such meeting. 
 

Section 4.8.  Quorum and Participation in Meeting.  One third of the total number of 
directors in office, but no less than two (2) directors, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of 
business at any meeting of the Board of Directors. The members of the Board of Directors, or any 
committee designated by the Board of Directors, may participate in a meeting of the Board of 
Directors, or of such committee, by means of conference telephone or similar communications 
equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear one another; and 
participation in a meeting pursuant to this provision shall constitute presence in person at such 
meeting.  The directors shall be promptly furnished a copy of the minutes of the meetings of the 
Board of Directors. 
 

Section 4.9.  Manner of Acting.  Each director shall be entitled to one (1) vote upon 
any matter properly submitted for a vote to the Board of Directors.   The act of a majority of the 
directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors, 
except as may otherwise be specifically provided by law, by the Charter, or by these Bylaws.  
 

Section 4.10.  Action Without a Meeting.  Any action required or permitted to be 
taken at a meeting by the Board of Directors, or by any committee thereof, may be taken without a 
meeting if all voting members of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case may be, consent in 
writing to taking such action without a meeting.  If all members entitled to vote on the action shall 
consent in writing to taking such action without a meeting, the affirmative vote of the numbers of 
votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting shall be the act of the 
Board of Directors.  The action must be evidenced by one (1) or more written consents describing 
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the action taken, signed in one (1) or more counterparts by each member entitled to vote on the 
action, indicating each signing member’s vote or abstention on the action taken.  All such written 
consents and actions shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors or 
committee.  A consent signed under this Section 4.10 shall have the same force and effect as a 
meeting vote of the Board of Directors, or any committee thereof, and may be described as such in 
any document. 
 

Section 4.11.  Vacancies.  Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, including 
vacancies created by the removal of directors without cause or for cause, shall be filled by the 
Nominating Committee (as defined in Section 4.2).  A director designated to fill a vacancy shall 
serve for the unexpired term of his predecessor in office, or, if there is no predecessor, until the next 
appointment of directors.  
 

Section 4.12.  Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses.  No director shall be 
entitled to receive monetary compensation for services rendered to the Corporation.  However, each 
director may be paid reasonable expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board of 
Directors, after submitting substantiation of such expenses to the Corporation.  This section  shall not 
preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation 
therefor.  
 

Section 4.13.  Removal.  Any or all of the directors may be removed for cause or 
without cause by vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the Board of Directors, exclusive of the director 
whose removal is at issue.  Removal of a director shall also constitute removal as an officer of the 
Corporation and as a member of all committees of the Board of Directors. 
 

Section 4.14.  Resignation.  A director may resign at any time by tendering his 
resignation in writing to the President or, in the case of the resignation of a director who is also 
President, to the Secretary.  A resignation shall become effective upon the date specified in such 
notice or, if no date is specified, upon receipt of the resignation by the Corporation at its principal 
place of business. 
 
 
 ARTICLE V. 
 
 OFFICERS 
 
 

Section 5.1.  Number.  The Corporation shall have a President and a 
Secretary/Treasurer each of whom shall be elected in accordance with the provisions of this Article.  
The Board of Directors may also elect such other officers and assistant officers as the Board of 
Directors may from time to time deem necessary or appropriate. Any two or more offices may be 
held by the same person, except for the offices of President and Secretary, which must be held by 
different people. 
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Section 5.2.  Election and Term of Office.  The officers shall be elected annually by 
the Board of Directors at its annual meeting.  Each officer shall hold office for a term of one (1) year 
or until his earlier death, resignation, or removal from office in the manner hereinafter provided. 
 

Section 5.3.  President.  The President shall be the principal executive officer of the 
Corporation.  The President shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and 
shall in general perform all of the duties, and have all of the authority, incident to the office of the 
chief executive officer of a corporation, and such other duties as may from time to time be 
prescribed by the Board of Directors.  The President may sign, with the Secretary/Treasurer or any 
other proper officer thereunto authorized by the Board of Directors, deeds, mortgages, bonds, 
contracts, or other instruments which the Board of Directors has authorized to be executed, except in 
cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors 
or these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the Corporation, or shall be required by law to be 
otherwise signed or executed. 
 

Section 5.4.  Secretary/Treasurer.  The Secretary/Treasurer:  
 

(a) shall keep the minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors in one or 
more books provided for that purpose; see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the 
provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law; be custodian of the corporate records and of the 
seal, if any, of the Corporation and see that the seal is affixed to all documents, the execution of 
which is duly authorized on behalf of the Corporation under its seal; keep a register of the post office 
address of each member of the Board of Directors, which address shall be furnished to the 
Secretary/Treasurer by each director and in general perform all duties incident for the office and 
such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him by the President or by the Board of 
Directors; and 
 

(b) shall have charge and custody of, and be responsible for, all funds and 
securities of the Corporation; receive and give receipts for monies due and payable to the 
Corporation from any source whatsoever, and deposit all such monies in the name of the Corporation 
in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as shall be selected in accordance with the 
provisions of Article VIII of these Bylaws; disburse the funds of the Corporation in accordance with 
the directives of the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and render 
to the Board of Directors, at its annual meeting and at such other times as may be requested by the 
Board of Directors, an accounting of all the transactions and of the financial condition of the 
Corporation; and in general perform all duties incident to the office and such other duties as may 
from time to time be assigned to him by the President or by the Board of Directors. 
 

Section 5.5.  Removal.  Any member of the Board of Directors removed from office 
pursuant to Section 4.13 shall be automatically removed as an officer.  The Board of Directors may, 
by a majority vote of all directors, remove any officer when, in its judgment, the best interests of the 
Corporation will be served thereby. 
 

Section 5.6.  Vacancies.  A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board of 
Directors 
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Section 5.7.  Resignation.  An officer may resign his office at any time by tendering 
his resignation in writing to the President or, in the case of the resignation of the President, to the 
Secretary/Treasurer.  A resignation shall become effective upon the date specified in such notice, or, 
if no date is specified, upon receipt of the resignation by the designated officer. 
 

Section 5.8.  Salaries and Expenses.  The officers shall be entitled to reasonable 
compensation, as may be set by the Board of Directors from time to time, for services rendered to 
the Corporation.  Reasonable expenses incurred by all of the officers in the course of coordinating 
the affairs of the Corporation shall be reimbursed by the Corporation upon proper substantiation. 
 
 
 ARTICLE VI. 
 
 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 
 
 

Section 6.1.  Standards of Conduct.  A director or an officer of the Corporation shall 
discharge his duties as a director or as an officer, including duties as a member of a committee: 
 

(a) In good faith; 
 

(b) With the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise 
under similar circumstances; and 
 

(c) In a manner he reasonably believes to be in the best interest of the 
Corporation. 
 

Section 6.2.  Reliance on Third Parties.  In discharging his duties, a director or officer 
is entitled to rely on information, opinions, reports, or statements, including financial statements and 
other financial data, if prepared or presented by: 
 

(a) one or more officers or employees of the Corporation whom the director or 
officer reasonably believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented; 
 

(b) legal counsel, public accountants, or other persons as to matters the director or 
officer reasonably believes are within the person’s professional or expert competence. 
 

Section 6.3.  Bad Faith.  A director or officer is not acting in good faith if he has 
knowledge concerning the matter in question that makes reliance otherwise permitted by Section 6.2 
unwarranted. 
 

Section 6.4.  No Liability.  A director or officer is not liable for any action taken, or 
any failure to take action, as a director or officer, if he performs the duties of his office in 
compliance with the provisions of this Article, or if he is immune from suit under the provisions of 
Section 48-58-601 of the Act. 
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Section 6.5.   Prohibition on Loans.  No loans or guarantees shall be made by the 
Corporation to its directors or officers.  Any director who assents to or participates in the making of 
any such loan shall be liable to the Corporation for the amount of such loan until the repayment 
thereof.  Notwithstanding the preceding two sentences, nothing in this Section 6.5 shall be 
interpreted to prohibit any loans or guarantees made pursuant to any public benefit program 
administered by the Corporation and approved in accordance with T.C.A. ' 48-58-302. 
 
 
 ARTICLE VII. 
 
 CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS, INVESTMENTS 
 
 

Section 7.1.  Contracts and Employment of Agents.  The Board of Directors may 
authorize any director, officer, or agent to enter into any contract, or execute and deliver any 
instrument, in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation.  The Board of Directors shall be 
specifically authorized, subject to the provisions of Section 4.3 hereto, to employ and to pay the 
compensation of such agents, accountants, custodians, experts, scholarship consultants and other 
counsel, legal, investment or otherwise, as the Board of Directors shall deem advisable, and to 
delegate discretionary powers to, and rely upon information furnished by, such individuals or 
entities.  Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. 
 

Section 7.2.  Loans.  No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Corporation, and 
no evidences of indebtedness shall be issued in its name, unless authorized by a resolution of the 
Board of Directors.  Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. 
 

Section 7.3.  Checks, Drafts, etc.  All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment 
of money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation shall be 
signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents, of the Corporation, and in such manner, as shall 
from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 

Section 7.4.  Deposits.  All funds of the Corporation not otherwise employed shall be 
deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation with such banks, trust companies, 
brokerage accounts, investment managers, or other depositaries as the Board of Directors may from 
time to time select. 
 

Section 7.5.  Investment Authority.  The Board of Directors shall be authorized to 
retain assets distributed to it, even though such assets may constitute an over-concentration in one or 
more similar investments.  Further, the Board of Directors shall have the authority to make 
investments in unproductive property, or to hold unproductive property to the extent necessary until 
it can be converted into productive property at an appropriate time, provided the retention of such 
property is in the best interest of the Corporation and does not in any way jeopardize the tax-exempt 
status of the Corporation. 
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 ARTICLE VIII. 
 
 INDEMNIFICATION AND ADVANCEMENT OF EXPENSES 
 
 

Section 8.1.  Mandatory Indemnification of Directors and Officers.  To the maximum 
extent permitted by the provisions of Sections 48-58-501, et seq., of the Act, as amended from time 
to time (provided, however, that if an amendment to the Act in any way limits or restricts the 
indemnification rights permitted by law as of the date hereof, such amendment shall apply only to 
the extent mandated by law and only to activities of persons subject to indemnification under this 
Section which occur subsequent to the effective date of such amendment), the Corporation shall 
indemnify and advance expenses to any person who is or was a director or officer of the 
Corporation, or to such person’s heirs, executors, administrators and legal representatives, for the 
defense of any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, 
administrative, or investigative, and whether formal or informal (any such action, suit or proceeding 
being hereinafter referred to as the “Proceeding”), to which such person was, is or is threatened to be 
made, a named defendant or respondent, which indemnification and advancement of expenses shall 
include counsel fees actually incurred as a result of the Proceeding or any appeal thereof, reasonable 
expenses actually incurred with respect to the Proceeding, all fines, judgments, penalties and 
amounts paid in settlement thereof, subject to the following conditions:  
 

(a) The Proceeding was instituted by reason of the fact that such person is or was 
a director or officer of the Corporation; and  
 

(b) The director or officer conducted himself in good faith, and he reasonably 
believed (i) in the case of conduct in his official capacity with the Corporation, that his conduct was 
in its best interest; (ii) in all other cases, that his conduct was at least not opposed to the best interests 
of the Corporation; and (iii) in the case of any criminal proceeding, that he or had no reasonable 
cause to believe his conduct was unlawful.  The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, 
settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent is not, of itself, 
determinative that the director or officer did not meet the standard of conduct herein described.  
 

Section 8.2.  Permissive Indemnification of Employees and Agents.  The Corporation 
may, to the maximum extent permitted by the provisions of Section 48-58-501, et seq., of the Act, as 
amended from time to time (provided, however, that if an amendment to the Act in any way limits or 
restricts the indemnification rights permitted by law as of the date hereof, such amendment shall 
apply only to the extent mandated by law and only to activities of persons subject to indemnification 
under this Section which occur subsequent to the effective date of such amendment), indemnify and 
advance expenses in a Proceeding to any person who is or was an employee or agent of the 
Corporation, or to such person’s heirs, executors, administrators and legal representatives, to the 
same extent as set forth in Section 8.1 above, provided that the Proceeding was instituted by reason 
of the fact that such person is or was an employee or agent of the Corporation and met the standards 
of conduct set forth in Subsection 8.1(b) above.  The Corporation may also indemnify and advance 
expenses in a Proceeding to any person who is or was an employee or agent of the Corporation to the 
extent, consistent with public policy, as may be provided by the Charter, by these Bylaws, by 
contract, or by general or specific action of the Board of Directors. 
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Section 8.3.  Non-Exclusive Application.  The rights to indemnification and 

advancement of expenses set forth in Sections. 8.1 and 8.2 above are contractual between the 
Corporation and the person being indemnified, and his heirs, executors, administrators and legal 
representatives, and are not exclusive of other similar rights of indemnification or advancement of 
expenses to which such person may be entitled, whether by contract, by law, by the Charter, by a 
resolution of the Board of Directors, by these Bylaws, by the purchase and maintenance by the 
Corporation of insurance on behalf of a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or by 
an agreement with the Corporation providing for such indemnification, all of which means of 
indemnification and advancement of expenses are hereby specifically authorized. 
 

Section 8.4.  Non-Limiting Application.  The provisions of this Article VIII shall not 
limit the power of the Corporation to pay or reimburse expenses incurred by a director, officer, 
employee, or agent of the Corporation in connection with such person’s appearing as a witness in a 
Proceeding at a time when he has not been made a named defendant or respondent to the Proceeding.  
 

Section 8.5.  Prohibited Indemnification.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Article VIII, the Corporation shall not indemnify or advance expenses to or on behalf of any 
director, officer, employee, or agent of the Corporation, or such person’s heirs, executors, 
administrators or legal representatives: 
  

(a) If a judgment or other final adjudication adverse to such person establishes his 
liability for any breach of the duty of loyalty to the Corporation, for acts or omissions not in good 
faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, or under Section 48-58-
304 of the Act; or  
 

(b) In connection with a Proceeding by or in the right of the Corporation in which 
such person was adjudged liable to the Corporation; or  
 

(c) In connection with any other Proceeding charging improper personal benefit 
to such person, whether or not involving action in his official capacity, in which he was adjudged 
liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received by him. 
 

Section 8.6.  Repeal or Modification Not Retroactive.  No repeal or modification of 
the provisions of this Article VIII, either directly or by the adoption of a provision inconsistent with 
the provisions of this Article, shall adversely affect any right or protection, as set forth herein, 
existing in favor of a particular individual at the time of such repeal or modification.  
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 ARTICLE IX. 
 
 NOTICES AND WAIVER OF NOTICE 
 
 

The notices provided for in these Bylaws shall be communicated in person, by 
telephone, telegraph, teletype, or by mail or private carrier.  Written notice is effective at the earliest 
of (i) receipt, (ii) five (5) days after its deposit in the United States mail, if mailed correctly 
addressed and with first-class postage affixed thereon, (iii) on the date shown on the return receipt, if 
sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and the receipt is signed by or on behalf 
of the addressee, or (iv) twenty (20) days after its deposit in the United States mail, if mailed 
correctly addressed, and with other than first-class, registered, or certified postage affixed.  
Whenever any notice is required to be given to any director, officer or committee member of the 
Corporation under the provisions of these Bylaws, the Charter, or the Act, a waiver thereof in writing 
signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated 
therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. 
 
 
 ARTICLE X. 
 
 AMENDMENTS 
 
 

These Bylaws and the Charter may be altered, amended, or repealed, and a new 
Charter or Bylaws adopted, provided that no such alteration, amendment or repeal shall be 
inconsistent with Article XI hereof. 
 
 
 ARTICLE XI. 
 
 EXEMPT STATUS 
 
 

The Corporation has been organized and will be operated exclusively for exempt 
purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and, as such, will be exempt from 
taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code.  The Corporation intends to apply for recognition of its 
exempt status by filing Internal Revenue Service Form 1023 within the time prescribed under 
Section 508 of the Code and Treasury Regulation Section 1.508-1(a)(2).  Any provision of these 
Bylaws or of the Charter which would in any manner adversely affect the Corporation’s tax exempt 
status shall be void and shall be deleted or modified as necessary to comply with all applicable 
federal and state requirements for the maintenance of the Corporation’s tax exempt status. 
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